UEE
Legislative Council

LC Paper No. CB(2) 1364/01-02

(These minutes have been seen
by the Administration)
Ref : CB2/PL/SE/1

LegCo Panel on Security

Minutes of meeting
held on Thursday, 7 February 2002
at 8:30 am in the Chamber of the Legislative Council Building

Members : Hon James TO Kun-sun (Chairman)

present Hon LAU Kong-wah (Deputy Chairman)
Hon Margaret NG
Hon Mrs Selina CHOW LIANG Shuk-yee, JP
Hon CHEUNG Man-kwong
Hon Howard YOUNG, JP
Hon Ambrose LAU Hon-chuen, GBS, JP
Hon IP Kwok-him, JP
Hon Audrey EU Yuet-mee, SC, JP

Member :Hon LI Fung-ying, JP
attending
Members : Hon Albert HO Chun-yan
absent Dr Hon LUI Ming-wah, JP

Hon Andrew WONG Wang-fat, JP
Hon WONG Yung-kan

Public Officers : ltem IlI
attending

Mrs Jennie CHOK
Deputy Secretary for Security 2

Mr PANG Sung-yuen, JP
Deputy Commissioner of Correctional Services



Mr David WONG
Principal Assistant Secretary for Security B

Mr CHAN Chun-yan
Assistant Commissioner of Correctional Services

Mr AU Siu-hau
Acting Civil Secretary
Correctional Services Department

Mr Augustine NG
Assistant Director
Planning Department

Mr TONG Nai-piu

Chief Engineer
Civil Engineering Department

Item IV

Mr David WONG
Principal Assistant Secretary for Security B

Mr MAK Kwai-pui

Chief Ambulance Officer
Fire Services Department

Item V

Miss Eliza YAU
Principal Assistant Secretary for Security E

Mr Peter HALLIDAY
Assistant Commissioner of Police (Information Systems)
Hong Kong Police Force

Mrs Eliza LEE

Chief Systems Manager
Information Technology Branch
Hong Kong Police Force



Attendance by : Hong Kong Fire Services Department Ambulancemen's Union
invitation
Mr NG Siu-ki
Chairman

Mr WAT Ki-on
Vice-chairman

Clerkin : Mrs Sharon TONG
attendance Chief Assistant Secretary (2)1

Staff in . Mr Raymond LAM
attendance Senior Assistant Secretary (2)5

l. Matters arising
(LC Paper No. CB(2) 1023/01-02(01))

Special briefing at Police Headquarters on 7 February 2002

The Chairman reminded Members that the Police would hold an in-camera
special briefing for members at the Police Headquarters in the afternoon from 4:30 pm
to 6:00 pm. The briefing would cover the triad situation in Hong Kong, the control of
firearms and the situation in respect of the loss of firearms of Police officers.

Visit to Police formations in the New Territories South Region

2. Members agreed that the visit to the existing Police formations in the New
Territories South Region to better understand the necessity for the proposed
construction of a purpose-built regional Police headquarters and operational base at
Tsuen Wan be held in the morning of 28 February 2002.

List of follow-up actions required of the Administration

3. Members noted the list of follow-up actions required of the Administration.



- 4 -

. Date of next meeting and items for discussion
(LC Paper No. CB(2) 1023/01-02(02))

4. Members agreed to discuss the following items at the next regular meeting to be
held on 7 March 2002 at 2:30 pm -

(@  Improvement works at Lo Wu Terminal Building;

(b)  New Territories South Regional Police Headquarters and Operational
Base at Tsuen Wan; and

(c) Designation of Designated Public Activity Areas and guidelines for
frontline Police officers when handling demonstrations.

5. Referring to item 2 of the "List of issues to be considered"”, Mrs Selina CHOW
said that immigration clearance for visitors at the Airport Control Point had improved
and thus there was no longer a need to discuss the item. Members agreed that the
item be deleted from the list.

6. Members noted that a research report prepared by the Research and Library
Services Division of the Legislative Council Secretariat on the regulation of public
meetings and public processions in San Francisco, New York and London had been
circulated to members vide LC Paper No. CB(2) 877/01-02 on 14 January 2002.

I11.  Prison Development Plan
(LC Paper Nos. CB(2)1023/01-02(03) and (04))

7. At the invitation of the Chairman, Deputy Secretary for Security 2 (DS for S2)
briefed Members on the Administration's revised proposal on the Prison Development
Plan, as detailed in the paper provided by the Administration.

8. Members noted a comparison table, which was provided by the Administration
and tabled at the meeting, on different approaches of prison development.

(Post-meeting note : The comparison table was issued to members vide LC
Paper No. CB(2) 1099/01-02 on 8 February 2002.)

9. Mr CHEUNG Man-kwong commented that the Administration's revised Prison
Development Plan mainly involved splitting the original proposal into two stages and it
reflected that the Administration still intended to co-locate all penal institutions in the
longer term. He considered it expensive to spend $16 billion to construct a new penal
institution providing 2 600 additional penal places. He said that it was inappropriate
to consider the proposal at a time of deficit in the budget. In view of the current
financial situation of the Government, he preferred the less expensive option of
constructing five new prisons under the traditional approach at a total cost of about $5



- 5 -
billion to meet the projected increase in penal population.

10. DS for S2 responded that the capital investment would stimulate economic
development and create job opportunities. The estimated total capital cost of $16
billion would be spent over a long period of time. In the first two to three years, only
about $50 million would be needed for conducting feasibility studies and planning.
With the proposed co-location, existing penal sites could be released for alternative
development. A rough estimate indicated that the value of the land released would
far exceed the capital cost of $16 billion. The new prison development would
provide a total of 7 220 places, including 2 600 new places.

11. Deputy Commissioner of Correctional Services (DCCS) said that while five
new penal institutions could be constructed to meet the additional demand for penal

places, it would not provide the economy of scale which could be derived from the co-
location of penal institutions. He pointed out that many penal institutions were
constructed some 40 to 60 years ago and that the facilities were no longer adequate for
the provision of rehabilitation services to inmates. The full co-location of penal
institutions was more desirable in the longer term.

12.  The Chairman asked whether economy of scale could be achieved from the co-
location of the five new prisons into one prison complex. DCCS responded that
while there might be such benefits, the Administration had not estimated the savings
achievable from such an arrangement.

13. Mr LAU Kong-wah commented that the revised Prison Development Plan was
not much different from the Administration's original proposal to fully co-locate all
penal institutions. He said that the Administration had underestimated the high
degree of security risk associated with co-location of penal institutions. He further
said that the Administration's response to the submission of the Democratic Alliance
for Betterment of Hong Kong was unconvincing. Referring to paragraph 3 of the
Administration's paper, he said that it would be more difficult to handle major
disturbances in a large penal institution. Regarding the Administration's response on
security concerns in Annex A to the Administration 's paper, he said that the security
risk associated with the concentration of inmates was much higher than that of
Vietnamese Migrants (VMs). He added that the tension in a maximum security
institution would be more difficult to ease, if the number of inmates was large.

14. DCCS responded that with appropriate security design, adoption of necessary
security measures and technologies, sophisticated penal management and contingency
plans, the chance of spreading of a riot could be kept to a minimum. With the
existing resources, the Correctional Services Department (CSD) would be confident of
handling major disturbances that occurred in one fully co-located penal area but not
multiple disturbances occurring in diverse locations at the same time. He informed
Members that riots that occurred at the same time in 27 prisons scattered around a state
in Brazil a few months ago had resulted in heavy casualties.



-6 -

15. DCCS further said that the penal institutions in the proposed prison complex
would be divided into several clusters. Each cluster would have its own perimeter
walls or fences. Inmates in one institution were not within sight of those in other
institutions. Proper security design and advanced technology would be adopted to
prevent the spreading of mass behaviour from one institution to another. Within each
institution, security measures would be adopted such that each unit of inmates would
be separated from other units in work accommodation and recreation. There would
not be gathering of a large number of inmates at any one time or place.

16. DCCS added that VM detention centres were run on a totally different
philosophy from that of a penal institution. VMs were not offenders. They were
basically free to move within the camps at will and were not locked up at night. The
manning ratio in VM detention centres was far lower than that in prisons. Drawing
an analogy between the proposed prison complex and the security risk of VM detention
centres was not entirely appropriate.

17. Mr LAU Kong-wah stressed that the co-location of penal institutions would
result in concentration of security risk. The spreading of a riot would also be quicker
if all inmates were located in one penal place than distributed in different penal
institutions. He said that even though the number of inmates involved in the riot in
Hei Ling Chau Drug Addiction Treatment Centre was not large, the Administration
had taken some time to bring the situation under control. He pointed out that the fact
that the riots in Brazil had been put under control reflected that riots scattered in
different locations were easier to handle. He said that he had visited five prisons in
the United States in the previous year. Overseas experience revealed that having all
inmates in one place would result in an unacceptably high security risk. He further
pointed out that most overseas prison officials whom he met during his visits described
the idea of putting all inmates in a large prison complex as "unbelievable™ or "mad".

18.  Mr LAU Kong-wah added that inmates in the Rikers Island prison complex in
New York were persons sentenced to one to two years' imprisonment, the security risk
associated with whom were substantially different from inmates sentenced to longer
imprisonment periods, including life imprisonment. He had also visited the San
Quentin Prison in San Francisco, where there were ten monuments in memory of
prison guards who had died in riots and noted that even for a penal population of about
6 000, the prison guards had to wear knife-resistant clothes and helmets.

19. DS for S2 stressed that the proposed co-location would not involve having all
inmates in one single penal institution. Different categories of inmates would be
accommodated in different penal institutions in the proposed prison complex, which
would be divided into several clusters. Each individual institution within a cluster
would have its own perimeter walls or fences and hold a manageable size of about 400
to 800 inmates. DCCS added that inmates in one institution were not within sight of
those in other institutions. Regarding the riots that occurred simultaneously in 27
prisons in Brazil, it had taken more than one week before the situation was put under
control and the number of casualties was immense.




20.  Assistant Commissioner of Correctional Services informed Members that he
had visited the Rikers Island prison complex, which was a real-life example
demonstrating the feasibility of the concept of co-location of penal institutions, and
noted that -

(@) the prison complex had a history of more than 100 years;

(b) the prison complex had a penal population of 20 000 at one time and the
present penal population was 17 000;

(c) different institutions in the complex were physically separated from one
another and were operated independently;

(d)  while there had been riots of different scale in the past, order had been
restored successfully; and

(e) besides inmates sentenced to less than one year's imprisonment, there
were also remands pending trial of their criminal charges and inmates
sentenced to more than one year's imprisonment and pending transfer to
other prisons.

21.  The Chairman asked whether the proposed clustering of penal institutions
would follow that in Annex B to the Administration's paper. DS for S2 responded
that the clustering illustrated in the Administration's paper was only one of the
possibilities under the proposed co-location.

22. Mr LAU Kong-wah said that inmates in the Rikers Island prison complex and
those in the penal institutions of Hong Kong were not comparable. He said that the
experience of the San Quentin Prison indicated that a penal population of 6 000 was
already very difficult to control. He questioned whether the riots in Hei Ling Chau or
Brazil would have been easier to handle if the prisons had been co-located.

23. DCCS responded that there were two other correctional institutions, namely,
the Lai Sun Correctional Institution and the Hei Ling Chau Correctional Institution, in
the vicinity of the Hei Ling Chau Drug Addiction Treatment Centre. With the
deployment of additional resources, order in the latter had been restored within a few
hours and the riot had not spread to the two other institutions. This indicated that
with the adoption of necessary security measures and technologies, sophisticated penal
management and contingency plans, the chance of spreading of a riot could be kept to
a minimum.

24.  DCCS added that most riots developed from smaller incidents. In each penal
institution, there was a Security Officer who gathered intelligence on incidents
occurring in the institution. With intelligence gathered early before the development
of a riot, actions could be taken in time to address the problem and prevent the




spreading of a riot.

25. Mr Howard YOUNG said that the Liberal Party had formerly expressed
reservations about the Administration's initial proposal on prison development.
However, it had subsequently noted that with the adoption of appropriate security
design and measures, the proposed co-location might have merits. He asked whether
the projections of penal population had taken into account the decrease in penal
population after an agreement on the transfer of sentenced persons was reached with
the Mainland. He also asked about the additional cost required in providing for future
expansion of the prison complex.

26. DS for S2 said that the proposed mid-sized co-location project, which was
expected to be completed in 2013, would only meet the forecast demand for penal
places in 2015. Further expansion of the prison complex would be considered, if a
further growth in penal population was identified in the future. DCCS added that
under the proposed project, about 1 000 additional penal places were to be provided by
2015.

27. DCCS said that there were currently 3 200 Mainland inmates, among whom
2 700 were serving short-term sentences of not more than one year. As the transfer of
sentenced persons with the Mainland would cover those serving sentences of more
than one year, an agreement with the Mainland on the transfer of sentenced persons
would not have much impact on the size of penal population. He added that the
existing projections of penal population were based on the forecasts of CSD as well as
information supplied by the Police and the Immigration Department. Although the
forecast might change over time, it should be noted that the existing penal institutions
had an overall occupancy rate of about 110% and the occupancy rate in some female
penal institutions was close to 200%. There was a pressing need to address the
overcrowding problem in penal institutions.

28. Mrs Selina CHOW considered that the Administration's proposed progressive
approach towards prison development, which involved mid-sized co-location as a first
step, was an appropriate one. She said that the issue of prison development had been
discussed at meetings of the Panel for many years. She considered that the
Administration should proceed with its latest proposal as soon as possible so that penal
sites in urban areas could be vacated for other development. She added that the
project should be developed with minimum cost without compromising security.

29.  On the options of sites for the co-located prison complex, DCCS briefed
Members on the characteristics of the two site options at Kong Nga Po and Hei Ling
Chau, as detailed in Annex G to the Administration's paper for the Panel meeting on 7
June 2001 (LC Paper No. CB(2) 1689/00-01(04) issued vide LC Paper No. CB(2)
1689/00-01 on 31 May 2001). He concluded that the site at Kong Nga Po was
preferred from operational and security points of view.

30. Mr Howard YOUNG considered that in determining the site for the prison




-9 -

complex, consideration should be given to the respective economic values of the two
sites for other development. Mrs Selina CHOW shared the view of Mr YOUNG.

31. DS for S2 said that although the site at Kong Nga Po was located in the Closed
Area and thus currently had no development potential, the possibility of developing the
Closed Area was being examined under the "Hong Kong 2030 : Planning Vision and
Strategy”. However, the construction of a prison complex in Kong Nga Po would not
hinder any possible future development of the Closed Area.

32.  Mrs Selina CHOW asked about the difference in capital investment between
the construction of a prison complex in Kong Nga Po and Hei Ling Chau. DCCS
responded that under the original proposal of full co-location of penal institutions, the
total capital investments for constructing a prison complex in Kong Nga Po and Hei
Ling Chau were $27.5 billion and $28.1 billion respectively.

33.  Miss Margaret NG said that considerations in respect of prison development
should not be focussed on the economic value of existing penal sites. It should be
focussed on the security of penal institutions as well as the rights and rehabilitation of
inmates. She further said that Hong Kong had an international obligation to separate
young offenders from other inmates.

34. DS for S2 responded that as required under local legislation and relevant
international conventions, different categories of inmates were separated from each
other. The Prison Development Plan was not proposed solely for the release of urban
land. It was proposed with a view to upgrading archaic and outdated facilities as well
as to address the overcrowding problem in existing penal institutions. DCCS added
that young offenders were separated according to their age groups in accordance with
the requirements under international conventions. However, this could not be
achieved in some cases due to overcrowding in penal institutions. There was a
pressing need for upgrading the archaic and outdated facilities to comply with
international standards.

35.  The Chairman said that he was inclined to support the proposed mid-sized co-
location of penal institutions. However, he would oppose the capital investment,
which amounted to $400 million or 2.5% of the total capital investment, that would
provide for possible future expansion of the proposed prison complex.

IVV.  Further Development on Paramedic Ambulance Service
(LC Paper Nos. CB(2)858/01-02(01), CB(2)1023/01-02(05) and (06))

36. At the invitation of the Chairman, Principal Assistant Secretary for Security B
(PAS(S)B) briefed Members on the results of the consultancy study on the further
development of paramedic ambulance service (PAS) in Hong Kong and Government's



- 10 -
plans to provide paramedic care on all ambulances by end 2004-5.

37. At the invitation of the Chairman, Mr WAT Ki-on presented the submission of
Hong Kong Fire Services Department Ambulancemen's Union (the Union) and
informed Members that, apart from views on certain aspects of the development of
PAS, the Union supported the general direction for development of PAS as outlined in
the Final Report of the Consultancy Study on Paramedic Ambulance Service in Hong
Kong (the Report).

38. Mr LAU Kong-wah asked about the Administration's position on the Union's
views in respect of increase in ambulancemen and ambulances.

39. PAS(S)B responded that the Fire Services Department (FSD) had an
established mechanism for the calculation of additional resource requirements to meet
its performance pledge of meeting 92.5% of all emergency ambulance calls within a
target response time of 12 minutes. The need for additional resources had been
calculated under this mechanism in the past and where necessary, bids for additional
resources were made in the normal manner under the annual resource allocation
exercise. A new forecast methodology had been proposed by the consultant for the
calculation of resource requirements and this would be taken into account in future
assessment of resource requirements, together with other relevant factors such as actual
response time performance. He added that the Administration agreed with the
consultant's recommendation of the addition of 10 ambulance officers and 40
ambulancemen to facilitate the release of trainers and trainees from normal operational
duties and complete the training of more than 500 EMA Il paramedics within three
years.

40.  The Chairman said that the Administration had not set out in its paper its
position on the recommendations in the Report. PAS(S)B responded that the Report
covered not only development of PAS but also development of emergency ambulance
service in general, but as requested by Members, the Administration's paper was a
progress report focusing on the development of PAS. In overall terms, the
Administration accepted the broad direction of development of ambulance service as
outlined in the Report. Some recommendations were ready for immediate
implementation but some might need further deliberation.

41.  Taking the points raised in the submission of the Union as examples, PAS(S)B
said that the Administration shared the Union's view that new ambulance depots should
be constructed, where necessary. The Administration supported the recertification
process suggested in the Report to further enhance the cognitive and psychomotor
skills of EMA |1 staff. It also accepted the improvements recommended in the Report
regarding shift arrangements.

42. Mr_LAU Kong-wah asked whether the Administration agreed to the
consultant's recommendation of securing an addition of 29 ambulances by April 2002
and another addition of 10 ambulances by April 2003. He also asked whether




- 11 -

requests had been made under the resource allocation exercise for the year 2002-03 to
increase the fleet of ambulances and employ 10 additional ambulance officers and 40
additional ambulancemen.

43.  PAS(S)B responded that the Administration would take forward the
implementation plan, including the addition of 50 ambulance personnel, with a view to
achieving full provision of PAS within three years. Regarding further development
which might have substantial financial implications, FSD would seek additional
resources, if necessary, in the normal manner. The resource allocation exercise for
the financial year 2002-03 was conducted in the summer of 2001, when the Report was
not yet available. Requests for additional resources for 2002-03 had therefore been
based on information available to FSD at that time. He added that the forecasts in the
Report were based on the statistics of 2000. In bidding new resources, regard had to
be had to the consultancy recommendations and other relevant factors such as
performance statistics.

44.  Chief Ambulance Officer, Fire Service Department (CAO) added that besides
seeking additional resources in the normal manner under the annual resource allocation

exercise, FSD would also consider adopting appropriate measures to ensure cost-
effectiveness. For example, the Administration would adopt the recommendation in
the Report regarding changes in shift arrangements. He informed Members that
requests for additional resources had been made for 2002-03. However, the
additional resources that would be allocated would be included the Appropriations Bill
to be introduced into the Legislative Council in March 2002.

45, Mr LAU Kong-wah said that the Administration should at least inform
Members about the number of additional ambulances it had requested for 2002-03.
Miss Margaret NG said that the Administration should provide a paper on whether it
accepted the recommendations in the Report, the additional resources requested and
allocated. Ms LI Fung-ying added that the Administration should provide details
about the number of additional ambulances and ambulance personnel it had requested
for 2002-03. Referring to paragraph 3(g) of the Administration's paper, she asked
whether ambulancemen who failed to meet the required standards in the recertification
process would lose their jobs.

46. PAS(S)B responded that the Administration was committed to the addition of
50 ambulance personnel to enable the release of trainers and trainees from normal
operational duties for EMA Il training, in a bid to achieve full provision of PAS within
three years. As regards recertification, the purpose was to ensure the service quality
and skills level of ambulancemen.  Ambulancemen who failed to meet the
requirements in the recertification process would not lose their jobs but only the special
allowance for EMA Il qualification. CAQO added that the recertification process
would not only involve testing the skills of ambulancemen. It would also involve
providing structured training in new procedures and equipment. Trainees would be
provided sufficient practice in the two-week training period before tests were
conducted. He said that besides the recertification process which was held at three-



- 12 -

year intervals, a total of three days of continued medical education would also be
provided to ambulancemen between recertifications.

47.  The Chairman asked whether FSD had not requested an addition of 29
ambulances in the annual resource allocation exercise for 2002-03. CAOQ responded
that bids had been made for additional resources for 2002-03 and the additional
resources to be allocated would be reflected in the budget for 2002-03 to be announced
in March 2002.

48.  Mr LAU Kong-wah said that he was disappointed about the Administration's
lack of a position on the results and recommendations in the Report. The Chairman
said that Members had been concerned about emergency ambulance service for many
years. If representatives of the Administration refused to provide the requested
information, the Panel might consider adopting measures such as raising the matter
with the Chief Secretary for Administration or summoning representatives of the
Administration under the Legislative Council (Powers and Privileges) Ordinance (Cap.
382) to provide the requested information.

49, PAS(S)B responded that it might not be appropriate to refer to details of
bidding in the resource allocation exercise and he would provide a written response
after the meeting.

(Post-meeting note : The Report provided by the Administration was circulated
to members vide LC Paper No. CB(2) 1117/01-02 on 18 February 2002.
Further information provided by the Administration on the additional
ambulances earmarked for 2002-03 was circulated to members vide LC Paper
No. CB(2) 1132/01-02 on 19 February 2002.)

50.  The Chairman said that if insufficient resources were provided for the addition
of ambulances in 2002-03, he might consider reducing other resources requested by
FSD. He concluded that Members were very dissatisfied with the Administration's
response and that the Administration had not tried its best to secure additional
resources for emergency ambulance service. He said that the Panel might consider
discussing the matter again in one or two months' time.

51.  PAS(S)B said that it was certainly untrue that the Administration had not tried
its best to secure additional resources for emergency ambulance service. He added
that after resources for 2002-03 had been allocated, the actual deployment might still
be subject to fine-tuning, if necessary.

V. Communal Information System Capacity Planning for the Years 2002-
2006
(LC Paper No. CB(2)1023/01-02(07))

52. Members did not raise any questions on the Administration's proposal of



- 13 -

upgrading the Communal Information System and expanding its system capacity to
cope with growing operational needs.

53.  The meeting ended at 11:05 am.

Council Business Division 2

Legislative Council Secretariat
15 March 2002



